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(b) An individual or entity who has
been excluded from Medicaid may be
reinstated only by the Medicaid agency
that imposed the exclusion.

(c) An individual or entity may sub-
mit to the State agency a request for
reinstatement at any time after the
date specified in the notice of exclu-
sion.

§ 1002.215 Action on request for rein-
statement.

(a) The State agency may grant rein-
statement only if it is reasonably cer-
tain that the types of actions that
formed the basis for the original exclu-
sion have not recurred and will not
recur. In making this determination,
the agency will consider, in addition to
any factors set forth in State law—

(1) The conduct of the individual or
entity occurring prior to the date of
the notice of exclusion, if not known to
the agency at the time of the exclu-
sion;

(2) The conduct of the individual or
entity after the date of the notice of
exclusion; and

(3) Whether all fines, and all debts
due and owing (including overpay-
ments) to any Federal, State or local
government that relate to Medicare or
any of the State health care programs,
have been paid, or satisfactory ar-
rangements have been made, that ful-
fill these obligations.

(b) Notice of action on request for re-
instatement. (1) If the State agency ap-
proves the request for reinstatement, it
must give written notice to the ex-
cluded party, and to all others who
were informed of the exclusion in ac-
cordance with § 1002.212, specifying the
date on which Medicaid program par-
ticipation may resume.

(2) If the State agency does not ap-
prove the request for reinstatement, it
will notify the excluded party of its de-
cision. Any appeal of a denial of rein-
statement will be in accordance with
State procedures and need not be sub-
ject to administrative or judicial re-
view, unless required by State law.

Subpart D—Notification to OIG of
State or Local Convictions of
Crimes Against Medicaid

§ 1002.230 Notification of State or local
convictions of crimes against Med-
icaid.

(a) The State agency must notify the
OIG whenever a State or local court
has convicted an individual who is re-
ceiving reimbursement under Medicaid
of a criminal offense related to partici-
pation in the delivery of health care
items or services under the Medicaid
program, except where the State Med-
icaid Fraud Control Unit (MFCU) has
so notified the OIG.

(b) If the State agency was involved
in the investigation or prosecution of
the case, it must send notice within 15
days after the conviction.

(c) If the State agency was not so in-
volved, it must give notice within 15
days after it learns of the conviction.

PART 1003—CIVIL MONEY PEN-
ALTIES, ASSESSMENTS AND EX-
CLUSIONS

Sec.
1003.100 Basis and purpose.
1003.101 Definitions.
1003.102 Basis for civil money penalties and

assessments.
1003.103 Amount of penalty.
1003.104 Amount of assessment.
1003.105 Exclusion from participation in

Medicare, Medicaid and all Federal
health care programs.

1003.106 Determinations regarding the
amount of the penalty and assessment.

1003.107 Determinations regarding exclu-
sion.

1003.108 Penalty, assessment, and exclusion
not exclusive.

1003.109 Notice of proposed determination.
1003.110 Failure to request a hearing.
1003.114 Collateral estoppel.
1003.126 Settlement.
1003.127 Judicial review.
1003.128 Collection of penalty and assess-

ment.
1003.129 Notice to other agencies.
1003.132 Limitations.
1003.133 Statistical sampling.
1003.134 Effect of exclusion.
1003.135 Reinstatement.
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AUTHORITY: 42 U.S.C. 1302, 1320–7, 1320a–7a,
1320b–10, 1395u(j), 1395u(k), 1395cc(j),
1395dd(d)(1), 1395mm, 1395nn(g), 1395ss(d),
1396b(m), 11131(c) and 11137(b)(2).

SOURCE: 51 FR 34777, Sept. 30, 1986, unless
otherwise noted.

§ 1003.100 Basis and purpose.
(a) Basis. This part implements sec-

tions 1128(c), 1128A, 1140, 1876(i)(6),
1877(g), 1882(d) and 1903(m)(5) of the So-
cial Security Act, and sections 421(c)
and 427(b)(2) of Pub. L. 99–660 (42 U.S.C.
1320a–7, 1320a–7a, 1320a–7(c), 1320b(10),
1395mm, 1395ss(d), 1396b(m), 11131(c) and
11137(b)(2)).

(b) Purpose. This part—
(1) Provides for the imposition of

civil money penalties and, as applica-
ble, assessments against persons who—

(i) Have knowingly submitted certain
prohibited claims under Federal health
care programs;

(ii) Seek payment in violation of the
terms of an agreement or a limitation
on charges or payments under the
Medicare program, or a requirement
not to charge in excess of the amount
permitted under the Medicaid program;

(iii) Give false or misleading informa-
tion that might affect the decision to
discharge a Medicare patient from the
hospital;

(iv) Fail to report information con-
cerning medical malpractice payments
or who improperly disclose, use or per-
mit access to information reported
under part B of title IV of Public Law
99–660, and regulations specified in 45
CFR part 60;

(v) Misuse certain Departmental and
Medicare and Medicaid program words,
letters symbols or emblems;

(vi) Violate a requirement of section
1867 of the Act or § 489.24 of this title;

(vii) Substantially fail to provide an
enrollee with required medically nec-
essary items and services; engage in
certain marketing, enrollment, report-
ing, claims payment, employment or
contracting abuses; or do not meet the
requirements for physician incentive
plans for Medicare specified in
§§ 417.479(d) through (f) of this title;

(viii) Present or cause to be pre-
sented a bill or claim for designated
health services (as defined in § 411.351 of
this title) that they know, or should
know, were furnished in accordance

with a referral prohibited under
§ 411.353 of this title;

(ix) Have collected amounts that
they know or should know were billed
in violation of § 411.353 of this title and
have not refunded the amounts col-
lected on a timely basis;

(x) Are physicians or entities that
enter into an arrangement or scheme
that they know or should know has as
a principal purpose the assuring of re-
ferrals by the physician to a particular
entity which, if made directly, would
violate the provisions of § 411.353 of this
title;

(xi) Are excluded, and who retain an
ownership or control interest of five
percent or more in an entity partici-
pating in Medicare or a State health
care program, or who are officers or
managing employees of such an entity
(as defined in section 1126(b) of the
Act);

(xii) Offer inducements that they
know or should know are likely to in-
fluence Medicare or State health care
program beneficiaries to order or re-
ceive particular items or services; or

(xiii) Are physicians who knowingly
misrepresent that a Medicare bene-
ficiary requires home health services;

(2) Provides for the exclusion of per-
sons from the Medicare or State health
care programs against whom a civil
money penalty or assessment has been
imposed, and the basis for reinstate-
ment of persons who have been ex-
cluded; and

(3) Sets forth the appeal rights of per-
sons subject to a penalty, assessment
and exclusion.

[ 65 FR 24414, Apr. 26, 2000]

§ 1003.101 Definitions.
For purposes of this part:
Act means the Social Security Act.
Adverse effect means medical care has

not been provided and the failure to
provide such necessary medical care
has presented an imminent danger to
the health, safety, or well-being of the
patient or has placed the patient un-
necessarily in a high-risk situation.

ALJ means an Administrative Law
Judge.

Assessment means the amount de-
scribed in § 1003.104, and includes the
plural of that term.
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Claim means an application for pay-
ment for an item or service to a Fed-
eral health care program (as defined in
section 1128B(f) of the Act).

Contracting organization means a pub-
lic or private entity, including of a
health maintenance organization
(HMO), competitive medical plan, or
health insuring organization (HIO)
which meets the requirements of sec-
tion 1876(b) of the Act or is subject to
the requirements in section
1903(m)(2)(A) of the Act and which has
contracted with the Department or a
State to furnish services to Medicare
beneficiaries or Medicaid recipients.

Department means the Department of
Health and Human Services.

Enrollee means an individual who is
eligible for Medicare or Medicaid and
who enters into an agreement to re-
ceive services from a contracting orga-
nization that contracts with the De-
partment under title XVIII or title XIX
of the Act.

Exclusion means the temporary or
permanent barring of a person from
participation in a Federal health care
program (as defined in section 1128B(f)
of the Act).

HCFA means the Health Care Financ-
ing Administration.

Inspector General means the Inspector
General of the Department or his or
her designees.

Item or service includes (a) any item,
device, medical supply or service
claimed to have been provided to a pa-
tient and listed in an itemized claim
for program payment or a request for
payment, and (b) in the case of a claim
based on costs, any entry or omission
in a cost report, books of account or
other documents supporting the claim.

Maternal and Child Health Services
Block Grant program means the program
authorized under Title V of the Act.

Medicaid means the program of
grants to the States for medical assist-
ance authorized under title XIX of the
Act.

Medical malpractice claim or action
means a written complaint or claim de-
manding payment based on a physi-
cian’s, dentist’s or other health care
practitioner’s provision of, or failure to
provide health care services, and in-
cludes the filing of a cause of action
based on the law of tort brought in any

State or Federal court or other adju-
dicative body.

Medicare means the program of
health insurance for the aged and dis-
abled authorized under Title XVIII of
the Act.

Participating hospital means (1) a hos-
pital or (2) a rural primary care hos-
pital as defined in section 1861(mm)(1)
of the Act that has entered into a
Medicare provider agreement under
section 1866 of the Act.

Penalty means the amount described
in § 1003.103 and includes the plural of
that term.

Person means an individual, trust or
estate, partnership, corporation, pro-
fessional association or corporation, or
other entity, public or private.

Physician incentive plan means any
compensation arrangement between a
contracting organization and a physi-
cian group that may directly or indi-
rectly have the effect of reducing or
limiting services provided with respect
to enrollees in the organization.

Preventive care, for purposes of the
definition of the term Remuneration as
set forth in this section and the pre-
ventive care exception to section 231(h)
of HIPAA, means any service that—

(1) Is a prenatal service or a post-
natal well-baby visit or is a specific
clinical service described in the cur-
rent U.S. Preventive Services Task
Force’s Guide to Clinical Preventive Serv-
ices, and

(2) Is reimbursable in whole or in
part by Medicare or an applicable
State health care program.

Remuneration, as set forth in
§ 1003.102(b)(13) of this part, is con-
sistent with the definition contained in
section 1128A(i)(6) of the Act, and in-
cludes the waiver of coinsurance and
deductible amounts (or any part there-
of) and transfers of items or services
for free or for other than fair market
value. The term ‘‘remuneration’’ does
not include—

(1) The waiver of coinsurance and de-
ductible amounts by a person, if the
waiver is not offered as part of any ad-
vertisement or solicitation; the person
does not routinely waive coinsurance
or deductible amounts; and the person
waives coinsurance and deductible
amounts after determining in good
faith that the individual is in financial
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need or failure by the person to collect
coinsurance or deductible amounts
after making reasonable collection ef-
forts;

(2) Any permissible practice as speci-
fied in section 1128B(b)(3) of the Act or
in regulations issued by the Secretary;

(3) Differentials in coinsurance and
deductible amounts as part of a benefit
plan design (as long as the differentials
have been disclosed in writing to all
beneficiaries, third party payers and
providers), to whom claims are pre-
sented; or

(4) Incentives given to individuals to
promote the delivery of preventive care
services where the delivery of such
services is not tied (directly or indi-
rectly) to the provision of other serv-
ices reimbursed in whole or in part by
Medicare or an applicable State health
care program. Such incentives may in-
clude the provision of preventive care,
but may not include—

(i) Cash or instruments convertible
to cash; or

(ii) An incentive the value of which is
disproportionally large in relationship
to the value of the preventive care
service (i.e., either the value of the
service itself or the future health care
costs reasonably expected to be avoided
as a result of the preventive care).

Request for payment means an applica-
tion submitted by a person to any per-
son for payment for an item or service.

Respondent means the person upon
whom the Department has imposed, or
proposes to impose, a penalty, assess-
ment or exclusion.

Responsible physician means a physi-
cian who is responsible for the exam-
ination, treatment, or transfer of an
individual who comes to a partici-
pating hospital’s emergency depart-
ment seeking assistance and includes a
physician on call for the care of such
individual.

Secretary means the Secretary of the
Department or his or her designees.

Should know or should have known
means that a person, with respect to
information—

(1) Acts in deliberate ignorance of the
truth or falsity of the information; or

(2) Acts in reckless disregard of the
truth or falsity of the information. For
purposes of this definition, no proof of
specific intent to defraud is required.

Social Services Block Grant program
means the program authorized under
title XX of the Social Security Act.

State includes the District of Colum-
bia, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands,
Guam, American Samoa, the Northern
Mariana Islands, and the Trust Terri-
tory of the Pacific Islands.

State health care program means a
State plan approved under title XIX of
the Act, any program receiving funds
under title V of the Act or from an al-
lotment to a State under such title, or
any program receiving funds under
title XX of the Act or from an allot-
ment to a State under such title.

Timely basis means, in accordance
with § 1003.102(b)(9) of this part, the 60-
day period from the time the prohib-
ited amounts are collected by the indi-
vidual or the entity.

[51 FR 34777, Sept. 30, 1986, as amended at 56
FR 28492, June 21, 1991; 57 FR 3345, Jan. 29,
1992; 59 FR 32124, June 22, 1994; 59 FR 36086,
July 15, 1994; 60 FR 16584, Mar. 31, 1995; 61 FR
13449, Mar. 27, 1996; 65 FR 24415, Apr. 26, 2000;
65 FR 35584, June 5, 2000]

§ 1003.102 Basis for civil money pen-
alties and assessments.

(a) The OIG may impose a penalty
and assessment against any person
whom it determines in accordance with
this part has knowingly presented, or
caused to be presented, a claim which
is for—

(1) An item or service that the person
knew, or should have known, was not
provided as claimed, including a claim
that is part of a pattern or practice of
claims based on codes that the person
knows or should know will result in
greater payment to the person than the
code applicable to the item or service
actually provided;

(2) An item or service for which the
person knew, or should have known,
that the claim was false or fraudulent,
including a claim for any item or serv-
ice furnished by an excluded individual
employed by or otherwise under con-
tract with that person;

(3) An item or service furnished dur-
ing a period in which the person was
excluded from participation in the Fed-
eral health care program to which the
claim was made;

(4) A physician’s services (or an item
or service) for which the person knew,
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or should have known, that the indi-
vidual who furnished (or supervised the
furnishing of) the service—

(i) Was not licensed as a physician;
(ii) Was licensed as a physician, but

such license had been obtained through
a misrepresentation of material fact
(including cheating on an examination
required for licensing); or

(iii) Represented to the patient at the
time the service was furnished that the
physician was certified in a medical
specialty board when he or she was not
so certified;

(5) A payment that such person
knows, or should know, may not be
made under § 411.353 of this title; or

(6) An item or service that a person
knows or should know is medically un-
necessary, and which is part of a pat-
tern of such claims.

(b) The OIG may impose a penalty,
and where authorized, an assessment
against any person (including an insur-
ance company in the case of para-
graphs (b)(5) and (b)(6) of this section)
whom it determines in accordance with
this part—

(1) Has knowingly presented or
caused to be presented a request for
payment in violation of the terms of—

(i) An agreement to accept payments
on the basis of an assignment under
section 1842(b)(3)(B)(ii) of the Act;

(ii) An agreement with a State agen-
cy or other requirement of a State
Medicaid plan not to charge a person
for an item or service in excess of the
amount permitted to be charged;

(iii) An agreement to be a partici-
pating physician or supplier under sec-
tion 1842(h)(1); or

(iv) An agreement in accordance with
section 1866(a)(1)(G) of the Act not to
charge any person for inpatient hos-
pital services for which payment had
been denied or reduced under section
1886(f)(2) of the Act.

(2)–(3) [Reserved]
(4) Has knowingly given or caused to

be given to any person, in the case of
inpatient hospital services subject to
the provisions of section 1886 of the
Act, information that he or she knew,
or should have known, was false or
misleading and that could reasonably
have been expected to influence the de-
cision when to discharge such person or
another person from the hospital.

(5) Fails to report information con-
cerning—

(i) A payment made under an insur-
ance policy, self-insurance or other-
wise, for the benefit of a physician,
dentist or other health care practi-
tioner in settlement of, or in satisfac-
tion in whole or in part of, a medical
malpractice claim or action or a judg-
ment against such a physician, dentist
or other practitioner in accordance
with section 421 of Public Law 99–660
(42 U.S.C. 11131) and as required by reg-
ulations at 45 CFR part 60; or

(ii) An adverse action required to be
reported to the Healthcare Integrity
and Protection Data Bank as estab-
lished by section 221 of Public Law 104–
191 and set forth in section 1128E of the
Act.

(6) Improperly discloses, uses or per-
mits access to information reported in
accordance with part B of title IV of
Pub. L. 99–660, in violation of section
427 of Pub. L. 99–660 (42 U.S.C. 11137) or
regulations at 45 CFR part 60. (The dis-
closure of information reported in ac-
cordance with part B of title IV in re-
sponse to a subpoena or a discovery re-
quest is considered to be an improper
disclosure in violation of section 427 of
Pub. L. 99–660. However, disclosure or
release by an entity of original docu-
ments or underlying records from
which the reported information is ob-
tained or derived is not considered to
be an improper disclosure in violation
of section 427 of Pub. L. 99–660.)

(7) Has made use of the words, let-
ters, symbols or emblems as defined in
paragraph (b)(7)(i) of this section in
such a manner that such person knew
or should have known would convey, or
in a manner which reasonably could be
interpreted or construed as conveying,
the false impression that an advertise-
ment, solicitation or other item was
authorized, approved or endorsed by
the Department or HCFA, or that such
person or organization has some con-
nection with or authorization from the
Department or HCFA. Civil money pen-
alties—

(i) May be imposed, regardless of the
use of a disclaimer of affiliation with
the United States Government, the De-
partment or its programs, for misuse
of—
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(A) The words ‘‘Department of Health
and Human Services,’’ ‘‘Health and
Human Services,’’ ‘‘Health Care Fi-
nancing Administration,’’ ‘‘Medicare,’’
or ‘‘Medicaid,’’ or any other combina-
tion or variation of such words;

(B) The letters ‘‘DHHS,’’ ‘‘HHS,’’ or
‘‘HCFA,’’ or any other combination or
variation of such letters; or

(C) A symbol or emblem of the De-
partment or HCFA (including the de-
sign of, or a reasonable facsimile of the
design of, the Medicare card, the check
used for payment of benefits under
title II, or envelopes or other sta-
tionery used by the Department or
HCFA) or any other combination or
variation of such symbols or emblems;
and

(ii) Will not be imposed against any
agency or instrumentality of a State,
or political subdivision of the State,
that makes use of any symbol or em-
blem, or any words or letters which
specifically identifies that agency or
instrumentality of the State or polit-
ical subdivision.

(8) Is a contracting organization that
HCFA determines has committed an
act or failed to comply with the re-
quirements set forth in § 417.500(a) or
§ 434.67(a) of this title or failed to com-
ply with the requirement set forth in
§ 434.80(c) of this title.

(9) Has not refunded on a timely
basis, as defined in § 1003.101 of this
part, amounts collected as the result of
billing an individual, third party payer
or other entity for a designated health
service that was provided in accord-
ance with a prohibited referral as de-
scribed in § 411.353 of this title.

(10) Is a physician or entity that en-
ters into—

(i) A cross referral arrangement, for
example, whereby the physician owners
of entity ‘‘X’’ refer to entity ‘‘Y,’’ and
the physician owners of entity ‘‘Y’’
refer to entity ‘‘X’’ in violation of
§ 411.353 of this title, or

(ii) Any other arrangement or
scheme that the physician or entity
knows, or should know, has a principal
purpose of circumventing the prohibi-
tions of § 411.353 of this title.

(11) Has violated section 1128B of the
Act by unlawfully offering, paying, so-
liciting or receiving remuneration in
return for the referral of business paid

for by Medicare, Medicaid or other
Federal health care programs.

(12) Who is not an organization, agen-
cy or other entity, and who is excluded
from participating in Medicare or a
State health care program in accord-
ance with sections 1128 or 1128A of the
Act, and who—

(i) Knows or should know of the ac-
tion constituting the basis for the ex-
clusion, and retains a direct or indirect
ownership or control interest of five
percent or more in an entity that par-
ticipates in Medicare or a State health
care program; or

(ii) Is an officer or managing em-
ployee (as defined in section 1126(b) of
the Act) of such entity.

(13) Offers or transfers remuneration
(as defined in § 1003.101 of this part) to
any individual eligible for benefits
under Medicare or a State health care
program, that such person knows or
should know is likely to influence such
individual to order or to receive from a
particular provider, practitioner or
supplier any item or service for which
payment may be made, in whole or in
part, under Medicare or a State health
care program.

(14) Is a physician and who executes a
document falsely by certifying that a
Medicare beneficiary requires home
health services when the physician
knows that the beneficiary does not
meet the eligibility requirements set
forth in sections 1814(a)(2)(C) or
1835(a)(2)(A) of the Act.

(15) Has knowingly and willfully pre-
sented, or caused to be presented, a bill
or request for payment for items and
services furnished to a hospital patient
for which payment may be made under
the Medicare or another Federal health
care program, if that bill or request is
inconsistent with an arrangement
under section 1866(a)(1)(H) of the Act,
or violates the requirements for such
an arrangement.

(c)(1) The Office of the Inspector Gen-
eral (OIG) may impose a penalty for
violations of section 1867 of the Act or
§ 489.24 of this title against—

(i) Any participating hospital with an
emergency department that—

(A) Knowingly violates the statute
on or after August 1, 1986 or;

(B) Negligently violates the statute
on or after May 1, 1991; and
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1 As adjusted in accordance with the Fed-
eral Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Ad-
justment Act of 1990 (Pub. L. 101–140), as
amended by the Debt Collection Improve-
ment Act of 1996 (Pub. L. 104–134).

(ii) Any responsible physician who—
(A) Knowingly violates the statute

on or after August 1, 1986;
(B) Negligently violates the statute

on or after May 1, 1991;
(C) Signs a certification under sec-

tion 1867(c)(1)(A) of the Act if the phy-
sician knew or should have known that
the benefits of transfer to another fa-
cility did not outweigh the risks of
such a transfer; or

(D) Misrepresents an individual’s
condition or other information, includ-
ing a hospital’s obligations under this
section.

(2) For purposes of this section, a re-
sponsible physician or hospital ‘‘know-
ingly’’ violates section 1867 of the Act
if the responsible physician or hospital
recklessly disregards, or deliberately
ignores a material fact.

(d)(1) In any case in which it is deter-
mined that more than one person was
responsible for presenting or causing to
be presented a claim as described in
paragraph (a) of this section, each such
person may be held liable for the pen-
alty prescribed by this part, and an as-
sessment may be imposed against any
one such person or jointly and sever-
ally against two or more such persons,
but the aggregate amount of the as-
sessments collected may not exceed
the amount that could be assessed if
only one person was responsible.

(2) In any case in which it is deter-
mined that more than one person was
responsible for presenting or causing to
be presented a request for payment or
for giving false or misleading informa-
tion as described in paragraph (b) of
this section, each such person may be
held liable for the penalty prescribed
by this part.

(3) In any case in which it is deter-
mined that more than one person was
responsible for failing to report infor-
mation that is required to be reported
on a medical malpractice payment, or
for improperly disclosing, using, or per-
mitting access to information, as de-
scribed in paragraphs (b)(5) and (b)(6) of
this section, each such person may be
held liable for the penalty prescribed
by this part.

(4) In any case in which it is deter-
mined that more than one responsible
physician violated the provisions of
section 1867 of the Act or of § 489.24 of

this title, a penalty may be imposed
against each responsible physician.

(5) Under this section, a principal is
liable for penalties and assessments for
the actions of his or her agent acting
within the scope of the agency.

(e) For purposes of this section, the
term ‘‘knowingly’’ is defined consistent
with the definition set forth in the
Civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C.
3729(b)), that is, a person, with respect
to information, has actual knowledge
of information, acts in deliberate igno-
rance of the truth or falsity of the in-
formation, or acts in reckless disregard
of the truth or falsity of the informa-
tion, and that no proof of specific in-
tent to defraud is required.

[57 FR 3345, Jan. 29, 1992; 57 FR 9670, Mar. 20,
1992, as amended at 59 FR 32124, June 22, 1994;
59 FR 36086, July 15, 1994; 60 FR 16584, Mar.
31, 1995; 60 FR 58241, Nov. 27, 1995; 64 FR 39428,
July 22, 1999; 65 FR 18550, Apr. 7, 2000; 65 FR
24415, Apr. 26, 2000; 65 FR 35584, June 5, 2000]

§ 1003.103 Amount of penalty.
(a) Except as provided in paragraphs

(b) through (k) of this section, the OIG
may impose a penalty of not more
than—

(1) $2,000 for each wrongful act occur-
ring before January 1, 1997 that is sub-
ject to a determination under § 1003.102;
and

(2) $10,000 for each wrongful act oc-
curring on or after January 1, 1997 that
is subject to a determination under
§ 1003.102.

(b) The OIG may impose a penalty of
not more than $15,000 for each person
with respect to whom a determination
was made that false or misleading in-
formation was given under
§ 1003.102(b)(4), or for each item and
service that is subject to a determina-
tion under § 1003.102(a)(5) or
§ 1003.102(b)(9) of this part. The OIG
may impose a penalty of not more than
$100,000 for each arrangement or
scheme that is subject to a determina-
tion under § 1003.102(b)(10) of this part.

(c) The OIG may impose a penalty of
not more than $11,000 1 for each pay-
ment for which there was a failure to
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report required information in accord-
ance with § 1003.102(b)(5), or for each
improper disclosure, use or access to
information that is subject to a deter-
mination under § 1003.102(b)(6).

(d)(1) The OIG may impose a penalty
of not more than $5,000 for each viola-
tion resulting from the misuse of De-
partmental, HCFA, Medicare or Med-
icaid program words, letters, symbols
or emblems as described in
§ 1003.102(b)(7) relating to printed
media, and a penalty of not more than
$25,000 in the case of such misuse re-
lated to a broadcast or telecast, that is
related to a determination under
§ 1003.102(b)(7).

(2) For purposes of this paragraph, a
violation is defined as—

(i) In the case of a direct mailing so-
licitation or advertisement, each sepa-
rate piece of mail which contains one
or more words, letters, symbols or em-
blems related to a determination under
§ 1003.102(b)(7);

(ii) In the case of a printed solicita-
tion or advertisement, each reproduc-
tion, reprinting or distribution of such
item related to a determination under
§ 1003.102(b)(7); and

(iii) In the case of a broadcast or tele-
cast, each airing of a single commer-
cial or solicitation related to a deter-
mination under § 1003.102(b)(7).

(e) For violations of section 1867 of
the Act or § 489.24 of this title, the OIG
may impose—

(1) Against each participating hos-
pital with an emergency department, a
penalty of not more than $50,000 for
each negligent violation occurring on
or after May 1, 1991, except that if the
participating hospital has fewer than
100 State-licensed, Medicare-certified
beds on the date the penalty is im-
posed, the penalty will not exceed
$25,000; and

(2) Against each responsible physi-
cian, a penalty of not more than $50,000
for each negligent violation occurring
on or after May 1, 1991.

(f)(1) The OIG may, in addition to or
in lieu of other remedies available
under law, impose a penalty of up to
$25,000 for each determination by HCFA
that a contracting organization has—

(i) Failed substantially to provide an
enrollee with required medically nec-
essary items and services and the fail-

ure adversely affects (or has the likeli-
hood of adversely affecting) the en-
rollee;

(ii) Imposed premiums on enrollees in
excess of amounts permitted under sec-
tion 1876 or title XIX of the Act;

(iii) Acted to expel or to refuse to re-
enroll a Medicare beneficiary in viola-
tion of the provisions of section 1876 of
the Act and for reasons other than the
beneficiary’s health status or require-
ments for health care services;

(iv) Misrepresented or falsified infor-
mation furnished to an individual or
any other entity under section 1876 or
section 1903(m) of the Act;

(v) Failed to comply with the re-
quirements of section 1876(g)(6)(A) of
the Act, regarding prompt payment of
claims; or

(vi) Failed to comply with the re-
quirements of §§ 417.479 (d) through (i)
of this title for Medicare, and §§ 417.479
(d) through (g) and (i) of this title for
Medicaid, regarding certain prohibited
incentive payments to physicians.

(2) The OIG may, in addition to or in
lieu of other remedies available under
law, impose a penalty of up to $25,000
for each determination by HCFA that a
contracting organization with a con-
tract under section 1876 of the Act—

(i) Employs or contracts with indi-
viduals or entities excluded, under sec-
tion 1128 or section 1128A of the Act,
from participation in Medicare for the
provision of health care, utilization re-
view, medical social work, or adminis-
trative services; or

(ii) Employs or contracts with any
entity for the provision of services (di-
rectly or indirectly) through an ex-
cluded individual or entity.

(3) The OIG may, in addition to or in
lieu of other remedies available under
law, impose a penalty of up to $100,000
for each determination that a con-
tracting organization has—

(i) Misrepresented or falsified infor-
mation to the Secretary under section
1876 of the Act or to the State under
section 1903(m) of the Act; or

(ii) Acted to expel or to refuse to re-
enroll a Medicaid recipient because of
the individual’s health status or re-
quirements for health care services, or
engaged in any practice that would
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reasonably be expected to have the ef-
fect of denying or discouraging enroll-
ment (except as permitted by section
1876 or section 1903(m) of the Act) with
the contracting organization by Medi-
care beneficiaries and Medicaid recipi-
ents whose medical condition or his-
tory indicates a need for substantial
future medical services.

(4) If enrolles are charged more than
the allowable premium, the OIG will
impose an additional penalty equal to
double the amount of excess premium
charged by the contracting organiza-
tion. The excess premium amount will
be deducted from the penalty and re-
turned to the enrollee.

(5) The OIG will impose an additional
$15,000 penalty for each individual not
enrolled when HCFA determines that a
contracting organization has com-
mitted a violation described in para-
graph (f)(3)(ii) of this section.

(6) For purposes of paragraph (f) of
this section, a violation is each inci-
dent where a person has committed an
act listed in § 417.500(a) or § 434.67(a) of
this title, or failed to comply with a re-
quirement set forth in § 434.80(c) of this
title.

(g) The OIG may impose a penalty of
not more than $25,000 against a health
plan for failing to report information
on an adverse action required to be re-
ported to the Healthcare Integrity and
Protection Data Bank in accordance
with section 1128E of the Act and
§ 1003.102(b)(5)(ii).

(h) For each violation of
§ 1003.102(b)(11), the OIG may impose—

(1) A penalty of not more than
$50,000, and

(2) An assessment of up to three
times the total amount of remunera-
tion offered, paid, solicited or received,
as specified in § 1003.104(b).

(i) For violations of § 1003.102(b)(14) of
this part, the OIG may impose a pen-
alty of not more than the greater of—

(1) $5,000, or
(2) Three times the amount of Medi-

care payments for home health services
that are made with regard to the false
certification of eligibility by a physi-
cian in accordance with sections
1814(a)(2)(C) or 1835(a)(2)(A) of the Act.

(j) The OIG may impose a penalty of
not more than $10,000 per day for each
day that the prohibited relationship

described in § 1001.102(b)(12) of this part
occurs.

(k) For violations of section
1862(a)(14) of the Act and
§ 1003.102(b)(15), the OIG may impose a
penalty of not more than $2,000 for
each bill or request for payment for
items and services furnished to a hos-
pital patient.

[57 FR 3346, Jan. 29, 1992, as amended at 59
FR 32125, June 22, 1994; 59 FR 48566, Sept. 22,
1994; 60 FR 16584, Mar. 31, 1995; 60 FR 58241,
Nov. 27, 1995; 61 FR 13449, Mar. 27, 1996; 61 FR
52301, Oct. 7, 1996; 64 FR 39429, July 22, 1999;
65 FR 18550, Apr. 7, 2000; 65 FR 24416, Apr. 26,
2000; 65 FR 35584, June 5, 2000]

§ 1003.104 Amount of assessment.
(a) The OIG may impose an assess-

ment, where authorized, in accordance
with § 1003.102, of not more than—

(1) Two times the amount for each
item or service wrongfully claimed
prior to January 1, 1997; and

(2) Three times the amount for each
item or service wrongfully claimed on
or after January 1, 1997.

(b) The assessment is in lieu of dam-
ages sustained by the Department or a
State agency because of that claim.

[65 FR 24416, Apr. 26, 2000]

§ 1003.105 Exclusion from participa-
tion in Medicare, Medicaid and all
Federal health care programs.

(a)(1) Except as set forth in para-
graph (b) of this section, the following
persons may be subject, in lieu of or in
addition to any penalty or assessment,
to an exclusion from participation in
Medicare for a period of time deter-
mined under § 1003.107. There will be ex-
clusions from Federal health care pro-
grams for the same period as the Medi-
care exclusion for any person who—

(i) Is subject to a penalty or assess-
ment under § 1003.102(a), (b)(1), (b)(4),
(b)(12), (b)(13) or (b)(15); or

(ii) Commits a gross and flagrant, or
repeated, violation of section 1867 of
the Act or § 489.24 of this title on or
after May 1, 1991. For purposes of this
section, a gross and flagrant violation
is one that presents an imminent dan-
ger to the health, safety or well-being
of the individual who seeks emergency
examination and treatment or places
that individual unnecessarily in a high-
risk situation.
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(b)(1)(i) With respect to any exclusion
based on liability for a penalty or as-
sessment under § 1003.102 (a), (b)(1), or
(b)(4), the OIG will consider an applica-
tion from a State agency for a waiver
if the person is the sole community
physician or the sole source of essen-
tial specialized services in a commu-
nity. With respect to any exclusion im-
posed under § 1003.105(a)(1)(ii), the OIG
will consider an application from a
State agency for a waiver if the physi-
cian’s exclusion from the State health
care program would deny beneficiaries
access to medical care or would other-
wise cause hardship to beneficiaries.

(ii) If a waiver is granted, it is appli-
cable only to the State health care pro-
gram for which the State requested the
waiver.

(iii) If the OIG subsequently obtains
information that the basis for a waiver
no longer exists, or the State agency
submits evidence that the basis for the
waiver no longer exists, the waiver will
cease and the person will be excluded
from the State health care program for
the remainder of the period that the
person is excluded from Medicare.

(iv) The OIG notifies the State agen-
cy whether its request for a waiver has
been granted or denied.

(v) The decision to deny a waiver is
not subject to administrative or judi-
cial review.

(2) For purposes of this section, the
definitions contained in § 1001.2 of this
chapter for ‘‘sole community physi-
cian’’ and ‘‘sole source of essential spe-
cialized services in a community’’
apply.

(c) When the Inspector General pro-
poses to exclude a nursing facility from
the Medicare and Medicaid programs,
he or she will, at the same time he or
she notifies the respondent, notify the
appropriate State licensing authority,
the State Office of Aging, the long-
term care ombudsman, and the State
Medicaid agency of the Inspector Gen-
eral’s intention to exclude the facility.

[59 FR 32125, June 22, 1994, as amended at 64
FR 39429, July 22, 1999; 65 FR 24416, Apr. 26,
2000; 65 FR 35584, June 5, 2000]

§ 1003.106 Determinations regarding
the amount of the penalty and as-
sessment.

(a) Amount of penalty. (1) In deter-
mining the amount of any penalty or
assessment in accordance with
§ 1003.102(a), (b)(1), (b)(4) and (b)(9)
through (b)(14) of this part, the Depart-
ment will take into account—

(i) The nature of the claim, referral
arrangement or other wrongdoing;

(ii) The degree of culpability of the
person against whom a civil money
penalty is proposed;

(iii) The history of prior offenses of
the person against whom a civil money
penalty is proposed;

(iv) The financial condition of the
person against whom a civil money
penalty is proposed;

(v) The completeness and timeliness
of the refund with respect to
§ 1003.102(b)(9);

(vi) The amount of financial interest
involved with respect to
§ 1003.102(b)(12);

(vii) The amount of remuneration of-
fered or transferred with respect to
§ 1003.102(b)(13); and

(viii) Such other matters as justice
may require.

(2) In determining the amount of any
penalty in accordance with §§ 1003.102
(b)(5) and (b)(6), the Department will
take into account—

(i) The nature and circumstances of
the failure to properly report informa-
tion, or the improper disclosure of in-
formation, as required;

(ii) The degree of culpability of the
person in failing to provide timely and
complete data or in improperly dis-
closing, using or permitting access to
information, as appropriate;

(iii) The materiality, or significance
of omission, of the information to be
reported, or the materiality of the im-
proper disclosure of, or use of, or access
to information, as appropriate;

(iv) Any prior history of the person
with respect to violations of these pro-
visions; and

(v) Such other matters as justice
may require.

(3)(i) In determining the amount of
any penalty in accordance with
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§ 1003.102(b)(7), the OIG will take into
account—

(A) The nature and objective of the
advertisement, solicitation or other
communication, and the degree to
which it has the capacity to deceive
members of the public;

(B) The degree of culpability of the
individual, organization or entity in
the use of the prohibited words, letters,
symbols or emblems;

(C) The frequency and scope of the
violation, and whether a specific seg-
ment of the population was targeted;

(D) The prior history of the indi-
vidual, organization or entity in its
willingness or refusal to comply with
informal requests to correct violations;

(E) The history of prior offenses of
the individual, organization or entity
in its misuse of Departmental and pro-
gram words, letters, symbols and em-
blems;

(F) The financial condition of the in-
dividual, organization or entity in-
volved with the violation; and

(G) Such other matters as justice
may require.

(ii) The use of a disclaimer of affili-
ation with the United States Govern-
ment, the Department or its programs
will not be considered as a mitigating
factor in determining the amount of
penalty in accordance with
§ 1003.102(b)(7).

(4) In determining the amount of any
penalty in accordance with § 1003.102(c),
the OIG takes into account—

(i) The degree of culpability of the re-
spondent;

(ii) The seriousness of the condition
of the individual seeking emergency
medical treatment;

(iii) The prior history of offenses of
the respondent in failing to provide ap-
propriate emergency medical screen-
ing, stabilization and treatment of in-
dividuals coming to a hospital’s emer-
gency department or to effect an ap-
propriate transfer;

(iv) The respondent’s financial condi-
tion;

(v) The nature and circumstances of
the violation; and

(vi) Such other matters as justice
may require.

(5) In determining the appropriate
amount of any penalty in accordance

with § 1003.103(f), the OIG will consider
as appropriate—

(i) The nature and scope of the re-
quired medically necessary item or
service not provided and the cir-
cumstances under which it was not
provided;

(ii) The degree of culpability of the
contracting organization;

(iii) The seriousness of the adverse
effect that resulted or could have re-
sulted from the failure to provide re-
quired medically necessary care;

(iv) The harm which resulted or could
have resulted from the provision of
care by a person that the contracting
organization is expressly prohibited,
under section 1876(i)(6) or section
1903(p)(2) of the Act, from contracting
with or employing;

(v) The harm which resulted or could
have resulted from the contracting or-
ganization’s expulsion or refusal to re-
enroll a Medicare beneficiary or Med-
icaid recipient;

(vi) The nature of the misrepresenta-
tion or fallacious information fur-
nished by the contracting organization
to the Secretary, State, enrollee or
other entity under section 1876 or sec-
tion 1903(m) of the Act;

(vii) The extent to which the failure
to provide medically necessary services
could be attributed to a prohibited in-
ducement to reduce or limit services
under a physician incentive plan and
the harm to the enrollee which re-
sulted or could have resulted from such
failure. It would be considered an ag-
gravating factor if the contracting or-
ganization knowingly or routinely en-
gaged in any prohibited practice which
acted as an inducement to reduce or
limit medically necessary services pro-
vided with respect to a specific enrollee
in the organization;

(viii) The history of prior offenses by
the contracting organization or prin-
cipals of the contracting organization,
including whether, at any time prior to
determination of the current violation
or violations, the contracting organiza-
tion or any of its principals were con-
victed of a criminal charge or were
held liable for civil or administrative
sanctions in connection with a pro-
gram covered by this part or any other
public or private program of payment
for medical services; and
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(ix) Such other matters as justice
may require.

(b) Determining the amount of the pen-
alty or assessment. As guidelines for
taking into account the factors listed
in paragraph (a)(1) of this section, the
following circumstances are to be con-
sidered—

(1) Nature and circumstances of the in-
cident. It should be considered a miti-
gating circumstance if all the items or
services or incidents subject to a deter-
mination under § 1003.102 included in
the action brought under this part
were of the same type and occurred
within a short period of time, there
were few such items or services or inci-
dents, and the total amount claimed or
requested for such items or services
was less than $1,000. It should be con-
sidered an aggravating circumstance
if—

(i) Such items or services or inci-
dents were of several types, occurred
over a lengthy period of time;

(ii) There were many such items or
services or incidents (or the nature and
circumstances indicate a pattern of
claims or requests for payment for
such items or services or a pattern of
incidents);

(iii) The amount claimed or re-
quested for such items or services was
substantial; or

(iv) The false or misleading informa-
tion given resulted in harm to the pa-
tient, a premature discharge or a need
for additional services or subsequent
hospital admission.

(2) Degree of culpability. It should be
considered a mitigating circumstance
if corrective steps were taken promptly
after the error was discovered. It
should be considered an aggravating
circumstance if—

(i) The respondent knew the item or
service was not provided as claimed or
if the respondent knew that the claim
was false or fraudulent;

(ii) The respondent knew that the
items or services were furnished during
a period that he or she had been ex-
cluded from participation and that no
payment could be made as specified in
§§ 1003.102(a)(3) and 1003.102(b)(12), or be-
cause payment would violate the terms
of an assignment or an agreement with
a State agency or other agreement or

limitation on payment under
§ 1003.102(b);

(iii) The respondent knew that the
information could reasonably be ex-
pected to influence the decision of
when to discharge a patient from a hos-
pital; or

(iv) The respondent knew that the
offer or transfer of remuneration de-
scribed in § 1003.102(b)(13) of this part
would influence a beneficiary to order
or receive from a particular provider,
practitioner or supplier items or serv-
ices reimbursable under Medicare or a
State health care program.

(3) Prior offenses. It should be consid-
ered an aggravating circumstance if at
any time prior to the incident or pres-
entation of any claim or request for
payment which included an item or
service subject to a determination
under § 1003.102, the respondent was
held liable for criminal, civil or admin-
istrative sanctions in connection with
a program covered by this part or any
other public or private program of re-
imbursement for medical services.

(4) Other wrongful conduct. It should
be considered an aggravating cir-
cumstance if there is proof that a re-
spondent engaged in wrongful conduct,
other than the specific conduct upon
which liability is based, relating to
government programs or in connection
with the delivery of a health care item
or service. The statute of limitations
governing civil money penalty pro-
ceedings will not apply to proof of
other wrongful conduct as an aggra-
vating circumstance.

(5) Financial condition. In all cases,
the resources available to the respond-
ent will be considered when deter-
mining the amount of the penalty and
assessment.

(6) Other matters as justice may require.
Other circumstances of an aggravating
or mitigating nature should be taken
into account if, in the interests of jus-
tice, they require either a reduction of
the penalty or assessment or an in-
crease in order to assure the achieve-
ment of the purposes of this part.

(c) In determining the amount of the
penalty and assessment to be imposed
for every item or service or incident
subject to a determination under
§§ 1003.102(a), (b)(1) and (b)(4)—
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(1) If there are substantial or several
mitigating circumstances, the aggre-
gate amount of the penalty and assess-
ment should be set at an amount suffi-
ciently below the maximium permitted
by §§ 1003.103(a) and 1003.104, to reflect
that fact.

(2) If there are substantial or several
aggravating circumstances, the aggre-
gate amount of the penalty and assess-
ment should be set at an amount suffi-
ciently close or at the maximum per-
mitted by §§ 1003.103(a) and 1003.104, to
reflect that fact.

(3) Unless there are extraordinary
mitigating circumstances, the aggre-
gate amount of the penalty and assess-
ment should never be less than double
the approximate amount of damages
and costs (as defined in paragraph (f) of
this section) sustained by the United
States, or any State, as a result of
claims or incidents subject to a deter-
mination under §§ 1003.102(a), (b)(1) and
(b)(4).

(d) In considering the factors listed
in paragraph (a)(4) of this section for
violations subject to a determination
under § 1003.103(e), the following cir-
cumstances are to be considered, as ap-
propriate, in determining the amount
of any penalty—

(1) Degree of culpability. It would be a
mitigating circumstance if the re-
spondent hospital had appropriate poli-
cies and procedures in place, and had
effectively trained all of its personnel
in the requirements of section 1867 of
the Act and § 489.24 of this title, but an
employee or responsible physician
acted contrary to the respondent hos-
pital’s policies and procedures.

(2) Seriousness of individual’s condi-
tion. It would be an aggravating cir-
cumstance if the respondent’s viola-
tion(s) occurred with regard to an indi-
vidual who presented to the hospital a
request for treatment of a medical con-
dition that was clearly an emergency,
as defined by § 489.24(b) of this title.

(3) Prior offenses. It would be an ag-
gravating circumstance if there is evi-
dence that at any time prior to the
current violation(s) the respondent was
found to have violated any provision of
section 1867 of the Act or § 489.24 of this
title.

(4) Financial condition. In all cases,
the resources available to the respond-

ent would be considered when deter-
mining the amount of the penalty. A
respondent’s audited financial state-
ments, tax returns or financial disclo-
sure statements, as appropriate, will be
reviewed by OIG in making a deter-
mination with respect to the respond-
ent’s financial condition.

(5) Nature and circumstances of the in-
cident. It would be considered a miti-
gating circumstance if an individual
presented a request for treatment, but
subsequently exhibited conduct that
demonstrated a clear intent to leave
the respondent hospital voluntarily. In
reviewing such circumstances, the OIG
would evaluate the respondent’s efforts
to—

(i) Provide the services required by
section 1867 of the Act and § 489.24 of
this title, despite the individual’s with-
drawal of the request for examination
or treatment; and

(ii) Document any attempts to in-
form the individual (or his or her rep-
resentative) of the risks of leaving the
respondent hospital without receiving
an appropriate medical screening ex-
amination or treatment, and obtain
written acknowledgment from the indi-
vidual (or his or her representative)
prior to the individual’s departure from
the respondent hospital that he or she
is leaving contrary to medical advice.

(6) Other matters as justice may require.
(i) It would be considered a mitigating
circumstance if the respondent hos-
pital—

(A) Developed and implemented a
corrective action plan;

(B) Took immediate appropriate ac-
tion against any hospital personnel or
responsible physician who violated sec-
tion 1867 of the Act or § 489.24 of this
title prior to any investigation of the
respondent hospital by HCFA; or

(C) Is a rural or publicly-owned facil-
ity that is faced with severe physician
staffing and financial deficiencies.

(ii) It would be considered an aggra-
vating circumstance if an individual
was severely harmed or died as a re-
sult, directly or indirectly, of the re-
spondent’s violation of section 1867 of
the Act or § 489.24 of this title.

(iii) Other circumstances of an aggra-
vating or mitigating nature will be
taken into account if, in the interests
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of justice, they require either a reduc-
tion of the penalty or an increase in
order to assure the achievement of the
purposes of this part.

(e) In considering the factors listed in
paragraph (a)(5) of this section for vio-
lations subject to a determination
under § 1003.103(f), the following cir-
cumstances are to be considered, as ap-
propriate, in determining the amount
of any penalty—

(f)(1) The standards set forth in this
section are binding, except to the ex-
tent that their application would re-
sult in imposition of an amount that
would exceed limits imposed by the
United States Constitution.

(2) The amount imposed will not be
less than the approximate amount re-
quired to fully compensate the United
States, or any State, for its damages
and costs, tangible and intangible, in-
cluding but not limited to the costs at-
tributable to the investigation, pros-
ecution and administrative review of
the case.

(3) Nothing in this section will limit
the authority of the Department to
settle any issue or case as provided by
§ 1003.126, or to compromise any pen-
alty and assessment as provided by
§ 1003.128.

[57 FR 3347, Jan. 29, 1992, as amended at 59
FR 32125, June 22, 1994; 59 FR 36086, July 15,
1994; 59 FR 48567, Sept. 22, 1994; 60 FR 16584,
Mar. 31, 1995; 60 FR 58241, Nov. 27, 1995; 61 FR
13449, Mar. 27, 1996; 64 FR 39429, July 22, 1999;
65 FR 24416, Apr. 26, 2000]

§ 1003.107 Determinations regarding
exclusion.

(a) In determining whether to ex-
clude a person under this part and the
duration of any exclusion, the Depart-
ment considers the circumstances de-
scribed in § 1003.106(a).

(b) With respect to determinations to
exclude a person under §§ 1003.102(a),
(b)(1), (b)(4), (b)(12) or (b)(13) of this
part, the Department considers those
circumstances described in § 1003.106(b).
Where there are aggravating cir-
cumstances with respect to such deter-
minations, the person should be ex-
cluded.

(c) The guidelines set forth in this
section are not binding. Nothing in this
section limits the authority of the De-

partment to settle any issue or case as
provided by § 1003.126 of this part.

[59 FR 32126, June 22, 1994, as amended at 65
FR 24418, Apr. 26, 2000]

§ 1003.108 Penalty, assessment, and ex-
clusion not exclusive.

Penalties, assessments, and exclu-
sions imposed under this part are in ad-
dition to any other penalties prescribed
by law.

[59 FR 32126, June 22, 1994]

§ 1003.109 Notice of proposed deter-
mination.

(a) If the Inspector General proposes
a penalty and, when applicable, assess-
ment, or proposes to exclude a respond-
ent from participation in a Federal
health care program, as applicable, in
accordance with this part, he or she
must deliver or send by certified mail,
return receipt requested, to the re-
spondent written notice of his or her
intent to impose a penalty, assessment
and exclusion, as applicable. The no-
tice includes—

(1) Reference to the statutory basis
for the penalty, assessment and exclu-
sion;

(2) A description of the claims, re-
quests for payment, or incidents with
respect to which the penalty, assess-
ment and exclusion are proposed (ex-
cept in cases where the Inspector Gen-
eral is relying upon statistical sam-
pling in accordance with § 1003.133 in
which case the notice shall describe
those claims and requests for payment
comprising the sample upon which the
Inspector General is relying and will
also briefly describe the statistical
sampling technique utilized by the In-
spector General);

(3) The reason why such claims, re-
quests for payments or incidents sub-
ject the respondent to a penalty, as-
sessment and exclusion;

(4) The amount of the proposed pen-
alty, assessment and the period of pro-
posed exclusion (where applicable);

(5) Any circumstances described in
§ 1003.106 that were considered when de-
termining the amount of the proposed
penalty and assessment and the period
of exclusion;

(6) Instructions for responding to the
notice, including—
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(i) A specific statement of respond-
ent’s right to a hearing, and

(ii) A statement that failure to re-
quest a hearing within 60 days permits
the imposition of the proposed penalty,
assessment and exclusion without right
of appeal; and

(7) In the case of a notice sent to a
respondent who has an agreement
under section 1866 of the Act, the no-
tice also indicates that the imposition
of an exclusion may result in the ter-
mination of the provider’s agreement
in accordance with section 1866(b)(2)(C)
of the Act.

(b) Any person upon whom the In-
spector General has proposed the impo-
sition of a penalty, assessment or ex-
clusion may appeal such proposed pen-
alty, assessment or exclusion to the
DAB in accordance with § 1005.2 of this
chapter. The provisions of part 1005 of
this chapter govern such appeals.

(c) If the respondent fails, within the
time permitted, to exercise his or her
right to a hearing under this section,
any exclusion, penalty, or assessment
becomes final.

[57 FR 3348, Jan. 29, 1992, as amended at 59
FR 32126, June 22, 1994; 64 FR 39429, July 22,
1999; 65 FR 24418, Apr. 26, 2000]

§ 1003.110 Failure to request a hear-
ing.

If the respondent does not request a
hearing within the time prescribed by
§ 1003.109(a), the Inspector General may
impose the proposed penalty, assess-
ment, and exclusion, or any less severe
penalty, assessment, and suspension.
The Inspector General shall notify the
respondent by certified mail, return re-
ceipt requested, of any penalty, assess-
ment, and exclusion that has been im-
posed and of the means by which the
respondent may satisfy the judgment.
The respondent has no right to appeal
a penalty, assessment, and exclusion,
with respect to which he or she has not
requested a hearing.

[51 FR 34777, Sept. 30, 1986, as amended at 57
FR 3348, Jan. 29, 1992]

§ 1003.114 Collateral estoppel.
(a) Where a final determination per-

taining to the respondent’s liability
under § 1003.102 has been rendered in
any proceeding in which the respond-
ent was a party and had an opportunity

to be heard, the respondent shall be
bound by such determination in any
proceeding under this part.

(b) In a proceeding under this part
that—

(1) Is against a person who has been
convicted (whether upon a verdict after
trial or upon a plea of guilty or nolo
contendere) of a Federal crime charg-
ing fraud or false statements, and

(2) Involves the same transactions as
in the criminal action, the person is es-
topped from denying the essential ele-
ments of the criminal offense.

[57 FR 3348, Jan. 29, 1992, as amended at 64
FR 39429, July 22, 1999]

§ 1003.126 Settlement.
The Inspector General has exclusive

authority to settle any issues or case,
without consent of the ALJ.

[65 FR 24418, Apr. 26, 2000]

§ 1003.127 Judicial review.
Section 1128A(e) of the Act author-

izes judicial review of a penalty, as-
sessment or exclusion that has become
final. Judicial review may be sought by
a respondent only with respect to a
penalty, assessment or exclusion with
respect to which the respondent filed
an exception under § 1005.21(c) of this
chapter unless the failure or neglect to
urge such exception will be excused by
the court in accordance with section
1128A(e) of the Act because of extraor-
dinary circumstances.

[57 FR 3348, Jan. 29, 1992]

§ 1003.128 Collection of penalty and as-
sessment.

(a) Once a determination by the Sec-
retary has become final, collection of
any penalty and assessment will be the
responsibility of HCFA, except in the
case of the Maternal and Child Health
Services Block Grant program, where
the collection will be the responsibility
of the PHS, and in the case of the So-
cial Services Block Grant program,
where the collection will be the respon-
sibility of the Office of Human Devel-
opment Services.

(b) A penalty or assessment imposed
under this part may be compromised
by the Inspector General, and may be
recovered in a civil action brought in
the United States district court for the
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district where the claim was presented,
or where the respondent resides.

(c) The amount of a penalty and as-
sessment when finally determined, or
the amount agreed upon in com-
promise, may be deducted from any
sum then or later owing by the United
States, or by a State agency, to the re-
spondent.

(d) Matters that were raised or that
could have been raised in a hearing be-
fore an ALJ or in an appeal under sec-
tion 1128A(e) of the Act may not be
raised as a defense in a civil action by
the United States to collect a penalty
under this part.

[51 FR 34777, Sept. 30, 1986, as amended at 57
FR 3349, Jan. 29, 1992; 65 FR 24418, Apr. 26,
2000]

§ 1003.129 Notice to other agencies.
Whenever a penalty, assessment or

exclusion become final, the following
organizations and entities will be noti-
fied about such action and the reasons
for it—the appropriate State or local
medical or professional association;
the appropriate Peer Review Organiza-
tion; as appropriate, the State agency
responsible or the administration of
each State health care program; the
appropriate Medicare carrier or inter-
mediary; the appropriate State or local
licensing agency or organization (in-
cluding the Medicare and Medicaid
State survey agencies); and the long-
term care ombudsman. In cases involv-
ing exclusions, notice will also be given
to the public of the exclusion and its
effective date.

[57 FR 3349, Jan. 29, 1992]

§ 1003.132 Limitations.
No action under this part will be en-

tertained unless commenced, in accord-
ance with § 1003.109(a) of this part,
within 6 years from the date on which
the claim was presented, the request
for payment was made, or the incident
occurred.

[57 FR 3349, Jan. 29, 1992]

§ 1003.133 Statistical sampling.
(a) In meeting the burden of proof set

forth in § 1005.15, the Inspector General
may introduce the results of a statis-
tical sampling study as evidence of the
number and amount of claims and/or

requests for payment as described in
§ 1003.102 that were presented or caused
to be presented by respondent. Such a
statistical sampling study, if based
upon an appropriate sampling and com-
puted by valid statistical methods,
shall constitute prima facie evidence of
the number and amount of claims or
requests for payment as described in
§ 1003.102.

(b) Once the Inspector General has
made a prima facie case as described in
paragraph (a) of this section, the bur-
den of production shall shift to re-
spondent to produce evidence reason-
ably calculated to rebut the findings of
the statistical sampling study. The In-
spector General will then be given the
opportunity to rebut this evidence.

[51 FR 34777, Sept. 30, 1986, as amended at 57
FR 3349, Jan. 29, 1992]

§ 1003.134 Effect of exclusion.
The effect of an exclusion will be as

set forth in § 1001.1901 of this chapter.

[57 FR 3349, Jan. 29, 1992]

§ 1003.135 Reinstatement.
A person who has been excluded in

accordance with this part may apply
for reinstatement at the end of the pe-
riod of exclusion. The OIG will consider
any request for reinstatement in ac-
cordance with the provisions of
§§ 1001.3001 through 1001.3004 of this
chapter.

[57 FR 3349, Jan. 29, 1992]

PART 1004—IMPOSITION OF SANC-
TIONS ON HEALTH CARE PRACTI-
TIONERS AND PROVIDERS OF
HEALTH CARE SERVICES BY A
PEER REVIEW ORGANIZATION

Subpart A—General Provisions

Sec.
1004.1 Scope and definitions.

Subpart B—Sanctions Under the PRO
Program; General Provisions

1004.10 Statutory obligations of practi-
tioners and other persons.

1004.20 Sanctions.

Subpart C—PRO Responsibilities

1004.30 Basic responsibilities.
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